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COlJRT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I1 
OF TI-IE STATE OF WASI-IINGTON 

STACY L. FIEGWINE, 


Appellant, 


LONGVIEW FIBRE COMPANY, INC., 
a Washin@on corporation, 

Respondent 

I. ASSIGNIMENTS OF ERROR 

A. 	 Assignments of Error 

1. 	 The trial court's finding that Fibre took no adverse elnployment action 

against Ms. Hegwine due to her "pregnancy-related condition" in 

violation of RCW 49.60 and WAC 162-30 was not supported by 

substantial evidence. 

2. 	 The trial court's conclusion that Fibre had no duty to acco~mnodate 

Ms. Hegwine's temporary pre~mancy-related disability, so long as the 

disability affected an essential job function, was contrary to 

Washingtoll law. 



3. 	 The trial court's finding that Ms. H e p i n e  could not perfonn the 

essential functions of the Order Checker position was not supported 

by substantial evidence. 

4. 	 The trial court's finding that the ability to lift 60 pounds, rather than 

the task of delivering IBM reports, was an essential function of the 

job was not supported by substantial evidence. 

5 .  	 The trial court's finding that the job of Order Checker Clerk could not 

be reasonably modified to accolnlnodate Ms. Hegwine's temporary 

disability was not supported by substantial evidence. 

6. 	 The trial court's ruling that Fibre had no duty to grant Ms. He,pine 

a leave of absence if her te~nporaiy disability could not be 

accolninodated was contrary to Washington law. 

B. 	 Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1.  	 The only evidence at trial, including the testimony of each Fibre 

witness, was that Ms. H e p i n e ' s  pregnancy-related condition was the 

sole reason that she was firednot hired. Did Fibre violate RCW 

49.60 and WAC 162-30 as a matter of law? If not, was there 



substantial evidence supporting the trial court's ruling that Fibre did 

riot violate RCW 49.60 and WAC 162-30? 

2. 	 The uncontradicted evidence at trial was that Fibre repeatedly 

increased the lifting "requirements" of the position in response to 

Ms. Hebwine's establishing her ability to meet them, and that Fibre 

only conveyed a lifting requirement of 60 pounds to Ms. Heapvine 

after litigation had been commenced. Did this practice violate Fibre's 

obligation to reasonably accoln~nodate Ms. Hebwine under RCW 

49.60 and WAC 162-30? 

3. 	 Has an employer fulfilled its obligation to explore reasonable 

accorn~~lodations when it fails to disclose to the disabled 

employeelapplicant the actual requirenlents of the job and the 

evidence establishes that, had the requirements been known, the 

elnployee would have been released by her doctor to continue 

einployment without accoimlodation? 

4. 	 Fibre admitted that the investigation of its Equal Einploylnent 

Opportunity coordinator detennined that reasonable accolmnodations 

were available and that Washington law required thein to be 

teinporarily extended so that Ms. He~wine  could perfonn the esseiltial 

functions of the Order Checker Clerk. The Fibre elnployee who inade 

the decision to firelnot hire Ms. H e ~ v i n eadmitted at trial that he \vas 



not aware of his EEO coordinator's detenninations, but considered 

them to be "irrelevant." In failing to provide teinporasy and 

admittedly reasonable accorni~~odations, did Fibre violate RCW 49.60 

and WAC 162-30 as a matter of law? If not, was there substantial 

evidence supporting the trial court's ruling that Fibre did not violate 

RCW 49.60 and WAC 162-30? 

5 .  	 Does an einployer have a duty to extend available reasonable 

acco~mnodations to a pregnant wolnan which will pennit her to 

perfonn the essential functions of her job? 

6. 	 The uncontradicted evidence at trial was that one of the tasks of the 

Order Checker Clerk was to deliver internal documents to different 

departments. Delivery of IBM reports involved occasional and brief 

lifting of Inail bins weighing up to 60 pounds. Was the delivery of the 

IBM reports, as opposed to the ability to lift 60 pounds, an essential 

function of the job? 

7. 	 Does an einployer have an obligation to provide leave to a pregnant 

wolnan who is unable to perfonn the essential hlctions of her job 

due to a pregnancy-related disability? 



11. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This appeal arises fi-om a claim brought under the Washington Law 

Against Discrimination (RCW 49.60) and the regulations proinulgated by the 

Washing.ton I-Iuman Rights Commission. In particular, Ms. Hegwine alleged 

that Longview Fibre Coinpany (hereinafter, "Fibre") violated RCW 49.60 by 

failing to employ her in the position of Order Checker because she had a 

ternporaly lifting restriction due to pregnancy, despite her ability to perfonn 

the essential functions of the position. Alternatively, Fibre failed to explore 

and teinporarily provide available reasonable accoinrnodations for the period 

that her lifting ability was limited due to pregnancy. Lastly, Ms. Hegyine 

alleged that Fibre failed to provide pregmancy leave pursuant to WAC 162-30- 

020(4) in the event that her lifting restrictions could not be reasonably 

accoin1nodated. 

111. STATERIIENT OF THE FACTS 

In late 2000, Ms. Hegwine applied for a position in the Longview 

Fibre Cornpany ("Fibremj customer service department as a "custorner service 

clerk1order checker." CP (Clerk's Papersjl4; RP (Report of Proceedings) 

(3114) 5:19-24. The "primary duties" of the Fibre custoiner service 

department are to write orders, schedule shipments, and invoice shipments. 

A secondary duty is processing the inconling and outgoing mail. RP (3114) 

4:18-24. Ms. Hegwine became aware of the position through a newspaper ad. 



RP (3114) 7: 10-1 7. The only qualifications listed in the ad were two years 

full-time related experience, PC abilities, and demonstrated coinm~~nication 

skills. Ex. (Exhibit) 1 ,  p. 1 .  

Ms. Hegwine was interviewed by Carlene Cox and Ron Sa~nples on 

February 2 1, 2001. CP 14; RP (3115) 1422-5. Ms. Cox was ernployed by 

Fibre from June 1998 to May 2002 in the hurnan resources department. 

RP (311 5) 138: 19 - 139: 18. Mr. Samples was a Fibre einployee for 4 1 years 

prior to retiring on May I, 2001, the last 26 years as manager of the custo~ner 

service department. RP (3114) 4:2-11. 

A total of three or four applicants were interviewed for the open order 

checker position. RP (3114) 7:15-19. After interviews, Ms. H e p i n e  was 

selected as the successful applicant. W (3114) 24: 1-12. During 

Ms. Hegwine's intesview, Ron Samples represented that the lifting 

requirement for the Order Checker position was 25 pounds. CP 14; 

RP (311 5) 194:9-17; RP (3114) 12:25 - 13: 12. At that time, there was no 

written job description for the order checker position. RP (311 4) 9:2 1-23. 

Ms. Hegwine was offered the position on February 2 1, 200 1. CP 14. 

As part of the hiring process, Ms. Cox co~npleted a "candidate checklist," 

indicating that Ms. Hebwine accepted the offer on the saine day. RP (3115) 

180:19 - 18 1 :18; Ex. 33. Ms. Cox understood that it was necessary to inake 

an offer of einployinent before requesting that Ms. Hegwine subinit to a 

physical examination. KP (311 5) 184: 17-20. Ms. Cox gave Ms. Hegwine a 



start date of March 1, 2001. CP 14: RP (3114) 21:19-25; 70:20 - 72:8; 

100:21 - 101:7. 

On March I ,  200 1, Ms. Hegvine caine to work at 8:00 a.m. and was 

instructed to watch a series of videos. RP (3114) 2 3 2 0  - 24:5. In addition, 

she was given info~lnation on health insurance plans, Longview Fibre 

Colnpany inill rules, general einployee benefits, employee pension plans, a 

parking sticker, and a payroll number. RP (3114) 24:8 - 28: 14; Ex. 2, 3, 5, 6, 

24, 25, and 26. These are all items typically provided to new Longview 

Fibre employees. RP (311 4) 2 17:25 - 2 18: 12. In addition, she filled out a W-4 

fonn. RP (3115) 185:18-23. After Ms. Hegvine asked about pregnancy 

leave, she was asked to leave the mill site. RP (311 5) 28: 18 - 3 1 :5. 

After seeking the assistance of the Washington Huinan Rights 

Coln~nission and the Washington Department of Labor and Industries, 

Ms. Hebwine was eventually paid for the work she performed for Fibre on 

March I, 200 1 .  RP (3114) 42: 11-24. 

At trial, Fibre's Director of Huinan Resources, Michael Fitzpatrick, 

acknowledged that Ms. Hegwine accepted a job offer. However, he testified 

that Ms. Cox erroneously offered Ms. Hebwine the position without having 

obtained the proper medical clearance. RP (3/15) 114:20 - 115:4; 123: 10-22. 

Ms. Hegwine's obstetrician, Daniel Herron, had provided a release 

dated February 23,2001, indicating she could lift 30 pounds to her waist and 

1 11 



20 pounds to her shoulders and overhead, up to two hours each day. Fibre 

had received the release by noon on March 1, 200 1 .  CP 15; Ex. I, p. 4. 

As Ms. I-Iegwine was leaving the Fibre gounds, Ms. Cox inet her at 

the gate and suggested she contact her physician about her restrictions. RP 

(3115) 195:18 - 196:25. Soon thereafter, Ms. Cox spolte to Fibre nurse 

Marilyn Sapp regarding Ms. Hegvine's issue. RP (311 5) 198:17 - 1993. 

Ms. Sapp subsequently advised Dr. 1Ieiron's office that Ms. Hekwine would 

need to be able to lift 40 pounds. RP (3114) 220:19 - 22 1:6. Later on 

March 1, 2001, Dr. Herron hxed a revised release to Fibre allowing 

Ms. Hebwine to lift up to 40 pounds (to her waist, to her shoulders and 

overhead) up to two hours each day. RP (311 4) 191:11 - 192: 10; Ex. 1, p. 5. 

It was the doctor's understanding that this would pel-rnit Ms. Hegwine to 

continue to work at Fibre. RP (3114) 204:l - 20422. 

On March 5, 2001, Dr. Ostrander, Fibre's Medical Center Director, 

spoke directly to Dr. Ijeiron and was told Ms. I-Iebwine was capable of lifting 

20 pounds fi-equently and 40 pounds occasionally .to infrequently. CP 15; RP 

(3115) 42:6-14; 50:lO-23: Ex. 1, p. 6. Dr. Ostrander did not advise 

Dr. Hei-ron that Ms. Hewine  would need to be able to lift inore to continue 

at Fibre. RP (3115) 68:24 - 69:5. 

Fibre subsequently involved its Equal E~nployinent Opportunity 

Coordinator, Margaret lihodes. RP (3114) 110:23-24; 1 13: 11-15. 

Ms. Rhodes was a Fibre employee froin February of 1998 through Veterans 



Day (November 1 1 )  2002. RP (3114) 1 10: 16-21: 1 12:25 - 113:2. Her duties 

included discrimination training. RP (3114) 1 12:22-24. She previously had 

spent 20 years in the rnilitary. 11 as Superintendent of Military Equal 

Opportunity; conducting training, investigating colnplaints of discrimination, 

and counseling. RP (3114) 1 10:25- 1 1  1 :13. 

Ms. Rhodes was asked by her supervisors to cornplete a job 

description fonn ("EMP 5 " )  for the custolner service clerklorder checker 

position, in general, and an "ability to perform the job" evaluation fonn 

("EMP 7") for Ms. Hegwine, in particular. RP (3/14)116:15-18; 117:lO-2; 

Ex. 13, 14 and 15. The EMP 5 and EMP 7 fonns were created in the early 

1990s and were modeled after the federal Americans with Disabilities Act. 

RP (3115) 207:8-20. The forms were not modified in response to the 

pregnancy discrilnination regulations later enacted by the Washington Hunian 

Rights Coinmission. CP 16; RP (311 5) 215:20 - 2 16:16. In fact, Ms. Rhodes 

possessed no fonns specific to Washington pregnancy discrimination 

regulations. RP (3114) 132:20 - 133:7; 178:21 - 179:19. 

Ms. Rhodes was advised that Ms. Hegwine potentially had a 

temporary disability due to pregnancy, in the fonn of a lifting restriction. RP 

(3114) 121:2-8. She understood that this restriction would last three to four 

and a half months. RP (3114) 16722 - 168:4. Given her experience as an 

Equal E~nployinent Opportunity Coordinator, Ms. Rhodes knew that 

Washington State regulations required that a pregnant woman with a 



temporary disability either be acco~n~nodated or be put on leave. RP (3114) 

1 26:5- 16. For that reason, she investigated the possibility of acconvnodating 

the te~nporary lifting restriction. RP (311 4) 126: 17- 19. 

Fibre's past practice was to transfer those with temporary back 

injuries to "sedentary relief clerk" positions. RP (3114) 129:4-13. In 

addition, it was "typical" that Fibre e~nployees in the same department 

possessed overlapping job skills and would cover for one another in the event 

of illness. RP (3114) 28: 12-16; 130: 15-2 1 .  The Custorner Sewice 

Departnlent was no exception. RP (311 4) 130: 10- 14. The Customer Service 

Department consisted of approxi~nately 22 worlters. RP (3114) 4: 13. Anlong 

them were e~nployees who had previously perfonned the task of delivering 

the IBM reports and knew how to do so. RP (3114) 28:4-11. 

Through her investigation, Ms. Rhodes concluded that Ms. Hegwine 

could perfonn the job of Order Checker with available accommodations. RP 

(311 4) 170: 17-2 1. The recoinmended accorn~nodation was temporary transfer 

to a sedentary relief clerk position. She noted that extending this 

accoimnodation was Fibre's past practice with employees. Ex. 13, p. 7 .  

Ms. Rhodes further concluded that this acco~n~nodation could be provided 

without significant difficulty or expense. Ex. 13, p. 10. She recommended 

that Ms. Hegwine in fact be accommodated. RP (3114) 132: 1-5. Ms. Rl~odes' 

superiors, however, advised that they would not make any accoinlnodation 

for Ms. Hegwine's PI-egmancy. RP (3114) 133:s- 13. As a result, Ms. Rllodes 



completed the requested fo1-111~ without addressing the availability of 

accom~nodations. Ex. 14 arid 15: RP (3/14)173:3 - 174: 19. 

The ultimate decision regarding Ms. Heg~vine's employment was 

made by Robert Arkell, Fibre's Senior Vice President of Industrial Relations 

and General Counsel. CP 17; RP (3114) 2 0 7 3 1 3 .  He conceded that, other 

than lifting restrictions due to pregnancy, Ms. Hegwine was in every way 

qualified to perfonn the Order Checker position. RP (3114) 208: 19 - 209:18: 

225:2 - 226:s. He testified that Fibre's policy is to treat temporary disabilities 

due to pregnancy like "any other illness." RP (3/14) 21 1:15-24. According 

to Mr. Arkell, "an individual who is pregnant is treated by Fibre as any other 

successfill applicant in the job, unless there is some kind of a disability or 

limitation that is attached to the pregnancy." In his mind, this is a "neutral" 

policy. RP (311 5) 2 12:1- 12. 

Mr. Arkell further testified that Ms. Rhodes never conveyed her belief 

that Washington law required acco~lvnodations to be extended to 

Ms. Hegwine. However, even if she had, Mr. Arkell stated that he would 

have considered the opinion of his EEO coordinator to be "irrelevant" and he 

would have simply disregarded her. RP (3115) 2 17: 11 - 219:s. Mr. Arkell 

never considered providing pregnancy leave to Ms. Hegwine, because he did 

not consider her an employee. RP (3114) 227:22 - 228:23. 

Carlene Cox was instructed by her superiors to contact Ms. Hegwine 

and rescind the job offer. RP (3/15) 167:15 - 169:25. On March 16, 2001, 



Ms. Hebwine was told that she had never been hired and Fibre was 

withdrawing the offer of employment. CP 17; RP (3114) 41:17-24. 

Accol-ding to Jerry Dow, Fibl-e's Human Resources Manager, the only reason 

why Fibre chose to not continue Ms. Hebyine's e~nploylnent was a belief that 

she could not perfonn the lifting requirements of the position because of her 

prebmancy. RP (3114) 2302-9; 242:19 - 243:l. By his own admission, 

Mr. Dow inade no effort to detennine whether or not a prebmant woman in 

Washingon must be accoininodated for pregnancy-related disabilities. RP 

(3114) 244:12-17. He testified that Fibre has no specific policy with regard 

to hiring prebmant women. RP (3114) 245: 17-19. In addition, he 

acknowledged that Fibre typically attempts to accoininodate einployees with 

lifting restrictions due to injuries by reassignment, leave of absence, transfer 

to sedentary positions, andlor assigning strenuous tasks to a relief clerk. RP 

(3114) 245:20 - 247:19. However, he had no knowledge of these options 

being considered for Ms. Hebwine. RP (3114) 247:20-21. 

In May of 2001, Matt Peerboom, with the assistance of Debi 

Manavian, created a written job description for the Customer Service 

ClerkIOrder Checker position. RP (311 5) 102: 15-20. Ms. Peerbooin has 

been the Fibre Customer Service Manager since May 2001. RP (3115) 

102:9-12. Debbie Manavian was the Fibre Order Writer Supervisor. RP 

(311 5) 5:23 - 6:10. According to Mr. Peerboom, the "essential functions of 

the job" are the "responsibilities" listed in the Longview Fibre Company Job 



Description they created. RP (3115) 109: 14 - 1 10:1; Ex. 17. One of those 

responsibilities is to "process and distribute IBM reports each morning." 

Ex.17. It is the accolnplishlnent of this task, not the manner of 

accomplishment, that is ultimately important to Fibre. RP (311 5) 1 12: 18 -

113:22. 

The task involves picking up four to six plastic postal bins filled with 

IBM printouts and delivering them to the accounting building, approximately 

500 feet away. RP (3114) 13:15 - 14:23. Without modification, each loaded 

bin weighs between 30 to 60 pounds. RP (3114) 15: 18-19. The actual 

transport of the bins is perfonned with the help of a Daihatsu pickup truck, 

capable of carrying as inany as 20 bins at one time. RP (3114) 26:3-11. In 

other words, the truck is equally capable of carrying eight 30 pound bins, as 

four 60 pound bins. RP (3114) 27:s-11. It takes less than a minute to carry 

a bin to the Daihatsu froin the administration building. RP (3115) 100: 18-25. 

Occasionally, even a healthy Order Checker would need help carrying a bin 

and "it was simply a matter of aslung for assistance from another employee." 

RP (3115) 101:l-7. 

A hand truck could be used to bring the reports froin the 

administration building to the truck. RP (3115 )  3 1:3-16. Similarly, a hand 

truck was available to transport the bins froin the Daihatsu to the accounting 

building. RP (3115) 30:22-25; 27: 12-2 1 .  In short, the Order Checker need 

only lift the docuinents from the hand truclc to the Daihatsu, and back off the 



Daihatsu onto anothei- hand truck. Once in Customer Service, the reports 

were broken up by someone other than the Order Checker. RP (3115) 1 1:7 -

12:1 .  The entire process of driving to pick up the bins and delivering the 

inaterials to accounting amounted to 30 to 45 minutes of the order checker's 

eight hour workday. RP (3114) 16:3-7; 2722-25. 

Dr. Herron was never advised by anyone at Fibre of a supposed 60 

pound lifting requirelnent of the Order Checker position. RP (3/14) 192:2 1 -

193-1; 22 1 :7-15. Ms. Cox conceded that she never conveyed a 60 pound 

lifting requirement to Ms. Hegwine or Dr. Hel-ron, nor did anyone else at 

Fibre to the best of her knowledge. RP (3115) 201:4-12. In fact, 

Ms. Hegwine was not told of any such requirement until after the 

co~mnencement of litigation. RP (3114) 52: 1 1 - 53: 10. 

Dr. Herron testified that had he been aware that Ms. Hegwine's job 

was dependent upon the ability to lift 60 pounds, he likely would have 

provided his approval to pe~fonn the job without accommodation. RP (3114) 

193:17 - 194114; 205:21 - 206:s. In fact, Dr. Herronregularlyprovides work 

approval to his prepant patients despite the need to lift as much as 60 

pounds. RP (3114) 193:2-16. 

I\'. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

After correctly concluding that Ms. Hegwine's pregnancy resulted in 

a teinporaly lifting restriction which constituted a "pregnancy-related 



condition." as defined in WAC 162-30-020(2)(b), the trial court el-red in 

failing to conclude that Fibre's failw-e to employ Ms. Hegwine was a violation 

of RCW 49.60 and WAC 162-30. Alternatively, the court erred in 

concluding: (1) Ms. Hegwine was unable to perfonn the essential functions 

of the job without accommodation: (2) Fibre need not provide reasonable 

acco~n~nodationswhich would allow Ms. Hegwine to perfonn essential job 

functions; (3) Reasonable accolnlnodations were not available; and; (4) Fibre 

need not provide pr-epancy leave if no reasonable accommodation was 

available. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. The Standard of Review 

Where a trial court has weighed the evidence, appellate review is 

limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports the findings 

and, if so, whether the findings in turn support the trial court's conclusions 

of law and judgment. Ridgeview Properties v. Sturhzlck, 96 Wn.2d 716, 7 19, 

638 P.2d 1231 (1982). Substantial evidence is evidence in sufficient 

quantum to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the declared 

premise. Id. The appellate court will defer to the trier of fact with respect to 

credibility deterniinations or conflicti~ig testimony. JVe~yerhuet/sevv. HeulOl 

Dep'r, 123 Wn. App. 59, 65, 96 P.3d 460 (2004). Conclusions of law are 

reviewed de novo. Bryant v. Pullrter ( 'oking Coal ('o., 86 Wn. App. 204, 

210, 936 P.2d 1163, rev. den., 133 Wn.2d 1022, 950 P.2d 476 (1997). 



B. 	 The Washington Law Against Discrimination is Liberally 

Construed to Prevent Discrimination 

Both the Washington law against discri~nination' (WLAD) and its 

federal countespart' (Title VII) provide that it is unlawful to discharge or 

discriminate against any person in colnpensation or in other tenns or 

conditions of elnployinent because of age, sex, race, creed, color, or national 

origin, or presence of any sensoiy. mental; or physical handicap. RCW 

49.60.030( ])(a); JVhec)le~v. Ar~'h~l1oce.c.c( 'a/liol~c c!f'Scalrle, 65 Wi1. App. 

552, 829 P.2d 196 (1992), rev 'd of7 olher ,qro~ci.iu',,r, 124 Wn.2d 634, 880 P.2d 

29. Additionally, WashinhQon law prohibits discri~nination based on ~narital 

status. RCW 49.60.180(3'). 

Both Title VII and the WLAD render it unlawful for an employer to 

refuse to hire or to discharge because of gender. As a result, it is iln~naterial 

whether Ms. Hegwine is characterized as an existing employee or, instead, 

as a job applicant. Under Title VII, an employer nlay not "limit, segregate, or 

classify [its] e~nployees or upplicnnts $)r enzploynzenf in any way which 

would deprive or tend to deprive [them] of employment opportunities . . .'-

4-2 U.S.C. 52000e-2(a)(2) (emphasis added). llnder the WLAD, the right to 

be fi-ee from discrimination includes tlie right " lo  o h l a i ~  and hold 

etnploylnent without discri~nination." RCW 39.60.030(1)(a). As a result, it 

'RCW ch. 49.60 


'42 U.S.C. $5 2000e el sey. 
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is an unfair practice for an employer "[tlo refiise to hire any person" because 

of their membership in a protected class. RCW 49.60.180(1). The 

regulations addressing pregnancy discrimination are consistent with the 

principles of the WLAD. See, WAC 162-30-020(3) (unfair practice to refuse 

to hire a woinan because of prebmancy or childbirth). 

While Plaintiff alleged no violations of federal law in the present case, 

federal interpretat~ons of Title VII may be instructive on dlscn~n~natlon 

clams brought under Washington law Hukcr v Krrlwr Alzrnz~nm~iz 87 

Clzefiz~culC'og ,951 F Supp 953 (E D Wash 1996) However, the Un~ted 

States Congress has expressly provided that Title VII does not preempt or 

supersede state laws which define sex discrimination more co~nprehensively 

than federal law. 42 USCA 4 2000e-7; 42 USCA 5 2000h-4. 

Washington courts will only follow federal authority when doing so 

furthers the purpose of RCW 49.60: 

While . . . federal cases are a source of guidance, we bear in 
mind that they are not binding and that we are fiee to adopt 
those theories and rationale which best further the purposes 
and inandates of our state statute. 

517 (1988). In particular, it has been recognized that "state courts have 

generally declined to follow [federal law] in interpreting their own state 

statutes prohibiting sex discrimination in ernployinent with respect to cases 



involving sick leave or disability benefits." 99 ALR 5Ih 1, 2 (citations 

omitted). 

WashingGon discriinination laws are generally inore robust than those 

authorized under Tltle VlI. I ' N J J L I ~ ~ I ~ Ov. , lohn~on& .John,son ('on,\z/~zer 

Prod/c(,\, Inc., 212 F.3d 493 (C.A. 9 Wash. 2000). Washington courts have 

recognized that the WLAD "einbodies a public policy of 'the highest 

priority."' Xleng v. Peoples Nul'l Nnnk, 120 Wn.2d 5 12, 521, 844 P.2d 389 

(1993) (quoting All~sonv. Housing Auih., 118 Wn.2d 79, 86, 82 1 P.2d 34 

(1991)). It has been held that both sex discrimination and disability 

discriinination in einploylnent contravene a clear inandate of public policy in 

Washington. Sedlacek v. Hrllr~, 104 Wn App 1, 3 P 3d 767 (2000), aff 'd 1n 

purl, rev 'd I M  purl, 145 Wn.2d 379, 36 P.3d 1014 

Since 1949, these words have introduced the Washington Law 

Against Discrimination (WLAD): 

The legislature hereby finds and declares that practices of 
discrimination against any of its inhabitants . . . are a matter 
of state concern, that such discriinination threatens not only 
the rights and proper privileges of its inhabitants but inenaces 
the institutions and foundation of a free democratic state. 

RCW 49.60.010. It is statutorily mandated that the WLAD be liberally 

construed to achieve its purpose of "eliminating and preventing 

discrimination." RCW 49.60.020; Wrlson v. Skinhach, 98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 

656 P.2d 1030 (1982) (statutory provisions against discriinination are 



liberally construed and exceptions narrowly confined), C'ur t~~  SeczinfyI' 

Hunk of 	Wa,tli ,69 Wn. App 12, 15, 847 P.2d 507 (1993) 

C. 	 Pregnancy is Afforded Special Status Under the Washington Law 

Against Discrimination 

The Washin~~onHuman Rights Cornrnission (WHRC) has been 

charged with responsibility for irnplernenting the WLAD. RCW 49.60.120 

provides in relevant part: 

The [human lights] co~nlnission shall have the 
functions, powers and duties: 

(3) to adopt, promulgate, amend, and rescind suitable rules 
and regulations to cany out the provisions of this chapter, and 
the policies and practices of the cornlnission in connection 
therewith. 

Consistent with this directive, the Washington Hurnan Rights 

Colnrnission (WHRC) has fonnulated regulations regarding pregnancy 

issues. WAC 162-30. These regulations were designed to "equalize 

elnploylnent opportunity for rnen and women." WAC 162-30-020(1). The 

regulations recognize that "[plrepancy is an expectable incident in the life 

of a woman'' and that "[d]iscrimination against wornen because of pregnancy 

or childbirth lessens the elnploylnent opportunities of women." WAC 162- 

The regulation provides, in relevant part: 



It is at1 unfair practice fol- an employer, because of 
pl-egnancy or childbirth, to: 

( i )  Refuse to hire or promote, terminate, or demote. 
a woman; 

( i i )  Impose different tenns and conditions of 
ernploylnent on a woman. 

WAC 162-30-020(3). '"Pregnancy' includes, but is not limited to, pregancy, 

the potential to become pregnant, and preg-ancy related conditions." WAC 

162-30-020(2)(a). "'Prebnancy related conditions' include, but are not 

limited to, related medical conditions, miscan-iage, pregnancy termination, 

and the coniplications of pregnancy." WAC 162-30-020(2)(b). 

Further, an employer is required to provide a leave of absence to a 

woman for the period of time that she is sick or temporarily disabled due to 

pregnancy or childbirth. WAC 162-30-020(4). 

While these regulations provide guidance, the Court has recognized 

that "the prohibition against sex discrimination under RCW 49.60.180 . . . 

clearly encoinpassed discriminatio~l based on a woman's potential to become 

pregnant and her need to have time away from wol-k for childbearing, prior 

to the change in the administrative code, specifically including this fonn of 

&scrimination." Kuest v. Regent ASAIJted L I V I M ~ ,Inc., 11 1 Wn. App. 36, 43 

P.3d 23 (2002). 



D. 	 Plaintiff Proved Her Claim of Pregnancy Discrimination as a 

Matter of Law 

Plaintiffs Complaint alleges, inrer alia, that Fibre discharged her 

from elnploy~nent because of her gender and her pregnancy, in violation of 

RCW 49.60 and Washingon public policy. CP 3. As a result, Ms. H e p i n e  

was required to prove only that ( 1 )  she was pregnant; (2) Defendant treated 

her adversely; and (3) her prebvancy was a substantial factor in the adverse 

action. WPI 5'" 330.01. These elements can be established through 

circumstantial, indirect and inferential evidence Hill v. H('17 Iuco~ze 

I'ilnd-I, 144 Wn.2d 172, 23 P.3d 440 (2001). Of the three elements, only the 

last was in dispute. 

Given the unconti-overted evidence at trial, the provisions of WAC 

162-30 colnpel a finding in favor of Ms. He,wine. By its terms, the 

regulation renders it unlawful to refuse to hire or to tenninate a woinan due 

to pregnancy-related medical conditions. The "sole exception" to this rule is 

if an einployer demonstrates a "business necessity for the elnployinent 

decision." WAC 162-30-020(3)(b). 

After considering the evidence presented, the trial court found that 

Fibre's decision was based on a lifting restriction "due solely to the 

pregnancy" and properly concluded that the lifting restriction was a 

"pregnancy-related condition" as defined in WAC 162-30-020(2)(b). 

CP 17. 



At no time did Fibre raise the affirmative defense of "business 

necessity." CP 8-13. Nor did Fibre produce evidence at trial which would 

support the defense. As a result, the trial court made no finding regarding the 

defense. 

The facts are clear: Ms Hegwine was either tenninated or not hired 

due solely to a pregnancy-related condition, and no overriding business 

necessity for the decision was shown. As a matter of law, Fibre's action 

violated Washington law. 

E. Plaintiff Proved Disability Discrimination as a Matter of Law 

Rather than attempting to establish a "business necessity" for failing 

to elnploy Ms. Hegwine, Fibre defended its employ~nent actions by claiming 

that its decisions were based on hls. Hearnine's inability to perfonn the 

essential fullctions of her job. As a result, the trial court applied a disability 

discrimination analysis and treated the case as a "failure to accommodate" 

action. This was unnecessary since precpancy discrimination was 

independently established. Nevertheless, the result is the same under a 

disability discrilnination theory. 

Under Washington law- an employer inay not "discharge or bar any 

person from elnployment because of . . . any sensory, mental, or physical 

disability," much less a pregnant woman. RCW 49.60.180(2) (emnphasis 

added). Rather, an e~nployer must reasonably acco~nlnodate an einplnyee's 



disability unless to do so would impose an undue hardship on the employer's 

business. WAC 162-22-080( 1 ) provides: 

It is an unfair practice for an e~nployer to fail or refuse to 
make reasonable acco~ninodations to the sensory, mental. or 
physical limitations of elnployees . . . unless the employer can 
demonstrate that such an acco~nlnodation would impose an 
undue hardship on the conduct of the employer's business. 

A plaintiff need not establish an employer's intent to discriminate; the failure 

to reasonably accorn~nodate is itself disc~iminatory. Pzilc~t~ov, 1;ederuI 

Failure-to-accommodate claims are preinised on the recognition that 

"[i]dentical treatment may be a source of discri~nination in the case of the 

handicapped, whereas d~ferent treatment inay eliminate discsi~nination 

against the handicapped and open the door to einployinent opportunities." 

Hollund v. B o e ~ ~ l g('o., 90 Wn.2d 384, 388, 583 P.2d 621 (1978) (emphasis 

in original). Of course, this observation is equally applicable to restrictions 

due to pregnancy. "The central idea is that an employer cannot fire an 

employee for poor job pelfoi-inance if the poor job perfonnarice was due to 

[a disability] and reasonable acco~mnodation would have rectified the 

problem." Parsons v. St. ,Joseph's Hosp., 70 Wn. App. 804, 807, 856 P.2d 

A light duty restriction by a doctor triggers an employer's duty of 

reasonable acco~mnodation. Pulcrno v. I;ederal l<xpren.s C'orp., 141 Wn.2d 



629, 9 P.3d 787 (2000). Further, a disability need not be pennanent to 

trigger the protections of the WLAD. Id .  

The employer's notice of a disability "triggers the employer's burden 

to take 'positive steps' to acco~ninodate the employee's limitations." 

(;ood~~zanv. Hoei17g('o., 127 Wn.2d 401, 408. 899 P.2d 1265 (1 995). "To 

accommodate, the e~nployer must afinnatively take steps to help the disabled 

employee continue working at the existing position or through attempts to 

find a position co~npatible with her limitations." (;r~ff~i'lhv. Boise ( 'ci.vc,~/d~, 

Inc., 111 Wn. App. 436, 442,45 P.3d 589 (2002): Sommer v. I)epur/merz/of 

,Socia/ und Heullh Services, 104 Wn. App. 160, 15 P.3d 664 (2001), rev. 

den., 144 Wn.2d 1007, 29 P.3d 719. An employer lnay not simply treat a 

disabled ernployee like any other job applicant. Curfi.r v. Security Hank of' 

Washing/on. 69 Wn. App. 12, 847 P.2d 507 (1993), rev. den., 121 Wn.2d 

1031, 856 P.2d 383; Staz/h v. Hoeirlg C'o., 919 F.Supp. 366 (W.D. Wash. 

1996). 

"Reasonable acco~n~nodation" of disabled einployees requires an 

interactive process between the employee and the employer. Davis v. 

Micros~jiC'orp., 109 Wn. App. 884, 37 P.3d 333 (2002), uff'd, 149 Wn.2d 

521, 70 P.3d 126. The obligation "envisions an exchange between e~nployer 

and e~nployee where each seeks and shares infonnation . . ." Goou'nzan v. 

Roeirzg Co., 127 Wn.2d at 408. The goal of this exchange is to achieve the 

best match between the elnployee's capabilities and available positions. Hill 



11. K( '17 1tico111~ 97 Wn. App. 657, 986 P.2d 137 (1999), qff"d in ~"~oILI-I ,  

purl, ~ ~ u c u / e d  V .  Hoeing ('o.,111 put"/, 144 Wn.2d 172, 23 P.3d 440; (;o~U'I~zun 

127 Wn.2d 401: 899 P.2d 1265 (1995). The employer has a duty to acquire 

enough infonnation to accommodate the employee's disability. W ~ ~ ~ ~ z h a c hv. 

( ' i / j ~of 7acot71u, 104 Wn. App. 894-, 17 P.3d 707 (2001), rev. denied> 144 

Wn.2d 101 7, 32 P.3d 284. 

In applying a disability discrimination analysis, the trial court in the 

present case emed in concluding that: (1  ) Fibre had no duty to acco~n~nodate 

Ms. He,pine; (2) Ms. I-iegwine could not perfonn an essential function of the 

job, and (3) no reasonable accornlnodations were available. 

1 Fibre had a Dutv to Acco~n~nodate Ms. He~wme's  Te~nporarv 

Pre~aancv-Related Disabilitv, If Necessaw 

The trial court ersed in concluding: "Fibre had an obligation to 

accommnodate [Ms. Hegwine's tenlporary PI-egpancy-related lifting 

restriction] ZIM/C.\J it caused Ms. Hegwine to be unable to pe r fo~~n  an essential 

function of the job." CP 17 (emphasis added). 

A prima facie failure to accoln~nodate claim is made where (1) the 

ernployee has a d~sablllty, (2) the employee IS, or wrth remoncrhle 

a ~ ~ o t ~ z ~ r ~ o d a t ~ o n~ ~ 1 1 1he able to perfonn the essent~al funct~ons of the job, and 

(3) the einployer faded to reasonably accon-modate the disabmllty E u ~ I e yv 

Sea-Land S e r v ~ ~ e ,  99 Wn "AI ~ K ,  App 459, 468. 994 P 2d 271 (2000) 



disabled individual is qualified for an elnploylnent position if, tvirh or withozlr 

I-easonable accommodation, he 'can perfonn the essential functions of the 

elnploy~nent position' at issue.'. 1)avlv v. MIcrosofi ('orp., 149 Wn.2d 52 1, 

533, 70 P.3d 126 (2003) (quoting 42 U.S.C. Q 1211 l(8)) (emphasis added). 

In this respect, WashingJon law is consistent with federal anti- 

disclimination law that "requires an e~nployer to make whatever 

accommodations are reasonably possible in the circulnstances so as to allow 

the elnployee to perfonn the functions essential to his position." .MIrun(ki v. 

Wi.vconsrn Power & J,i,qht ('o., 91 F.3d 10 1 1, 10 17 (7th Cir. 1996) (ADA 

case) (emphasis added). See, also, ('aru v. 12en0, 23 F.3d 525, 529 (D.C. Cir. 

1994) (under sections 50 1 and 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, "an individual 

with handicaps is 'qualified' if she can perfonn the essential functions of her 

position with reasonable accoimnodation. If she can perfonn these functions 

.withoul reasonable accolninodation, so much the better--she is, of course, still 

qualified"); I,j)ons v. Legal Aid Soc'y, 68 F.3d 1512, 15 15 (2d Cir. 1995) (the 

standard is the same under the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act). 

Accordingly, the trial court erred in ruling that Fibre had no d~lty to 

explore and extend reasonable accoininodations which would pennit 

Ms. Hebwine to work, once it was determined that the pregnancy-related 

disability affected the ability to perfonn a11 essential function of the job. 



2 .  	 Fibre Failed in its Obligation to Explore the Necessity and 

Availability of Reasonable Acco~ninodations 

Instead of engaging in an intel-active process, Fibre chose to conceal 

the requirements of the position from Ms. I-legwine and her doctor. This is 

not surprising, since the decision-makers at Fibre testified that they had no 

intent to accom~nodate Ms. Hebwi~ie. 

After investigation, Fibre's EEO Coordinator Margaret Rhodes 

concluded that reasonable accomnodations were available. RP (3114) 

170:17-21 . Further, she concluded that accoinnlodations could be extended 

without significant difficulty or expense. Ex. 13, p. 10. She recolninended 

that Ms. Heg~vine in fact be accommodated. RP (3114) 132: 1-5. In response, 

her superiors advised that they would not make any accoininodation for 

Ms. Hegwine's prebnancy. RP (3/14) 133:s-13. Jeny Dow-, the Fibre 

Human Resources Manager, admitted that he made no effort to detennine 

whether or not a pregnant wornan in Washington must be accoin~nodated for 

pregnancy-related disabilities. RP (3114) 244: 12-17. 

While the ultimate decision-maker, Robert Arkell, disputed that 

Ms. Rhodes ever conveyed her belief that Washington law required that 

accoininodations be made, this fact is immaterial. Ms. Arkell conceded that 

he would have considered Ms. Rhodes' opinion to be "irrelevant" and he 

would have simply disregarded her. RP (3115 ) 2 17 :1 1 - 2 19: 8. 



3. 	 Ms. Hewine Could Perfonn the Essential Functions of the 

Position Without Accorn~nodation 

According to Jeny Duw, Fibre's Hurnan Resources Manager, the only 

reason why Fibre chose to not continue Ms. Hegwine's ernploy~nent was a 

belief that she could not perfor~n the lifting requirements of the position 

because of her pregnancy. RP (31'14) 230:2-9; 242:19 - 243:l. Had Fibre 

fulfilled its obligation to fully involve Ms. H e p i n e  in the acco~n~nodation 

process, they would have discovered that she was qualified for the position 

without any accoinmodation whatsoever. The only time Ms. Hegvine would 

be asked to lift up to 60 pounds is in delivering four to six bins of IBM 

reports. RP (3114) 13: 15 - 14:23. The weight of the bins ranged from 30 to 

60 pounds. RP (3/14) 15:18-19. This task takes no more than 45 minutes 

each day. RP (3114) 16:3-7; 27:22-25. Most of the time expended in the 

achievement of the task involves the use of a hand truck and Daihatsu 

vehicle, requiring no lifting whatsoever. RP (3115) 30:22 - 3 1: 16. 

Ms. Hegwine would need only lift the bins froin the hand truck to the 

Daihatsu, and back off the Daihatsu onto another hand truck. 

Dr. Herron testified that, had he been aware that Ms. Hegwine's job 

was dependent upon the ability to lift 60 pounds, he likely would have 

provided his approval to perform the job without accominodation. RP (3114) 

193:17 - 194: 14; 205:2 1 - 206:8. In fact, Dr. He~ron regularly provides work 

approval to his patients who work in a local chicken processing plant or are 



involved in nursing care. despite the need to lift as much as 60 pounds. RP 

(3114) 193:2-16. Unfortunately, Fibre failed to advise Ms. I-Iegwine or 

Dr. Herron of any 60 pound requirement until after the colmnencement of 

litigation. 

In short, the undisputed testimony provided at trial established that 

Ms. Heapvine was in fact capable of lifting 60 pounds. Fibre could have 

easily ascertained this fact had it fulfilled its obligation to exchange pertinent 

infonnation with Ms. Hegwine. Rather than provide accurate infonnation to 

Ms. H e p i n e  or her doctol-, Fibre continued to increase the lifting 

"requirements" of the job as Ms. Hegwine established her ability to meet 

thein. Ultimately, Fibre settled on a 60-pound ininimu~n and, rather than 

engage in an interactive process and risk the possibility that Ms. Hegwine 

would be released to pel-form the work, chose to conceal this fact and simply 

tenninate her. 

4. 	 Ms. Hewine  Could Perfonn the Essential Functions of the 

Job With Reasonable Accoininodation 

Even had Fibre produced evidence to establish that Ms. Hepine ' s  

pregnancy affected her ability to perfonn an essential job function, it is clear 

that she was capable of performing the duties of her position with available 

accommodations. 



a. -Lifting 60 pounds is not an essential job fi~nction. 

As a preliminary matter, it is necessary to identify the "essential 

hnctions" of the Order Checker position. Plaintiff contends that the court 

erred in concluding that lifting 60 pounds was an essential hnction of the 

position in which Ms. Hebwine was hired. 

The tenn "essential functions" is derived from the Americans with 

Disabilities Act' (ADA), and it has been defined in the regulations of the 

federal Equal Ernploy~nent Opportunity Co~nrnission (EEOC) as follows: 

"The term essential functions means the fundamental job duties of the 

ernploy~nent position the individual with a disability holds or desires. The 

tenn 'essential functions' does not include the niarginal functions of the 

position." Davi,r. 149 Wn.2d at 533 (emphasis omitted) (citing 29 C.F.R. 

5 1630.2(n)(l) (2002)). "[Aln 'essential function' is a job duty that is 

fundamental, basic, necessary, and indispensable to filling a particular 

position, as opposed to a marginal duty divorced from the essence or 

substance of the job." llavis v. Microsofi Crorp., 149 Wn.2d at 533. See, also, 

l?aslej~v. Sea-Land iService, Znc., 99 Wn. App. 459, 994 P.2d 271 (2000), 

rev. denied, 141 Wn.2d 1007, 16 P.3d 1263. 

Obviously, it is the accomplishlient of the task, not the method of 

accomplishment, which is essential. Matt Peerbooln and Jodi Smith, anlong 

others, agreed that it is the delivery of computer reports that is essential, not 

'42 U.S.C. $ 5  12101-12213 
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the ability to lift 60 pounds. The Washin~qon State Department of Personnel 

has recogmized that this is the proper interpretation of the tenn "essential job 

function," stating: "An essential function analysis may contain information 

on the manner in which a job currently is perfonned, but should not include 

that ability to perfonn the job in that ~nanner is an essential fi~nction, unless 

there is no other way to perfonn the function without causing undue 

hardship." I~ieniifving l~s.setl/ir~l .Job l;ln~c/ion.s, Washington State 

Department of Personnel, Personnel Services Division, page 13. ' 

b. Available reasonable acco~nrnodations were not extended to 

Ms. Hemvine. 

"Reasonable accommodation" is defined by WAC 356-05-333 as: 

Reasonable alterations, adjustments, or changes . . . in the job, 
workplace andor tenn or condition of elnploylnent which will 
enable an otherwise qualified person of disability . . . to 
perfonn a particular job successfully, as determined on a 
case-by-case basis. 

The duty to reasonably accolnlnodate a disability extends to nleasures 

which will help an individual perfonn his or her job (Doe 11. Hoer~zg('o., 121 

Wn.2d 8, 18, 846 P.2d 531 (1993)), or avoid termination (e.g., ('larke v. 

Recognized types of accolninodation include (a) making "changes to a work 

'Exhibit 1 to Plaintiffs Post-Trial Melnoranduln of Law. To be 
provided via Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers and Exhibits filed 
August 30,2005. 



station," (b) providing "enhanced . . . equipment," (c) modifying the work 

place, (d) providing leaves of absence (I loe,  121 Wn.2d at 17 n. 4, and 21 

n. 5 . ) ,  (e) providing light duty (PZI~L~IMO, 141 Wn.2d at 645) and (f) taking 

affirmative steps to help an employee find another position (llnvis, 149 

Ws1.2d at 536: Plilcino, 141 W11.2d at 643-44). The WHRC has recognized 

that chang?ng minor job functions can be a reasonable accommodation. S(>o, 

www.hu~n.wa.~zov/e~nplover/faqnreg Inatern. htm. 

In the present case, Fibre's past practice was to tr-ansfer those with 

teinporary back injuries to sedentary relief clerk positions. RP (3i14) 129:4- 

13. In addition, it was "typical" that Fibre einployees in the same depaltment 

possessed overlapping job skills and would cover for one another in the event 

of illness. W (3i14) 28:12-16; 130: 15-21. The Custo~ner Service 

Departinent was 110 exception. RP (3114) 130: 10- 14.. The Customer Service 

Departinent consisted of approxiinately 22 workers. RP (3114) 4:13. Among 

thein were employees who had previously performed the task of delivering 

the IBM reports and knew how to do so. RP (3114) 28:4-11. Even without 

medical restrictions, an Order Checker would occasionally need help canying 

a bill and other einployees were available to assist. RP (3115) 101:l-7. It is 

clear that any assistance provided would take a matter of minutes. 

Taking these facts into account, Ms. Rhodes concluded that 

Ms. Hegwine could perfoi~n the job of Order Checker with available 

accommodations. RP (311 4) 170: 17-2 1. She noted that extending the 



available accomn~odation was Fibre's past practice with employees. Ex. 13, 

p. 7. With regard to the Customer Service Department in particular, the 

evidence was not refuted. Ron Samples, Carlene Cox, and Matt Peerbooln 

all testii-lled that these were nunlerous existing e~nployees who previously 

perfonned the duty of delivering mail and IBM reports, and would be 

available to do so in the event of injury or sickness. 

Jeny Dow acknowledged that Fibre typically attempts to 

accolnlnodate employees with lifting restrictions due to injuries by 

reassignment, leave of absence, transfer to sedentary positions, andlor 

assigning strenuous tasks to a relief clerk. RP (3114) 245:20 - 247:19. 

However, despite his position as Human Resources manager, he had no 

lcno\vledge of these options being considered for Ms. Hegwine. RP (311 4) 

247:20-21. In short, it is clear that reasonable accolnlnodations were 

available, but not extended. 

c. Fibre failed to ~roduce evidence of undue hardship. 

The duty to accolnlnodate is a wide-ranging one and an employer 

must provide a reasonable acco~n~nodation except when doing so would 

impose an "undue hardship." Phillips v. Seut//e, 111 Wn.2d 903, 91 1, 766 

P.2d 1099 ( 1989); WAC 162-22-075. An acco~mnodation for a handicapped 

ernployee is reasonable if its costs do not exceed its benefits. hfucSzlgu v. 

Sbokane Cowify,97 Wn.App. 435,442,983 P.2d 1167 (1999), rev. den. 140 



Wn.2d 1008, 999 P.261 1259 (2000). An employer's failure to reasonably 

accotnlnodate the sensory, mental, or physical li~nitations of a disabled 

employee constitutes disc~irni~~ation unless the ernployer can demonstrate that 

such acco~ll~nodation would result in an undue hardship to the employer's 

business. Snyder. v. iZ/lcdIcul Serv. ( 'ovp., 98 Wn. App. 3 15, 988 P.2d 1023 

(1999) (citing I l o p  v. Ho~ing('o., 121 Wn.2d 8, 16, 18, 846 P.2d 531 

(1993)). 

"Undue hardship" is an affilmative defense, which must be pled. 

Fibre, however, did not plead the defense. CP 8-14. In addition, Fibre failed 

to offer any evidence that providing accolnlnodations would constitute an 

undue hardship. To the contrary, the fact that the colnpany regularly provides 

the identified accolnlnodations suggests otherwise. The o111y direct testimony 

011 this issue came from Ms. Rhodes, who stated: ''I didn't feel that the 

accolmnodations would be undue, and that we could - Fibre could support 

those accom~nodations." RP 170: 14-2 1; C.T. 13, p. 10. She estimated the 

cost of acco~mnodatiilg Ms. Hegwine at less than $5,000.00. RP 130:22 -

131:ll .  

F. 	 Absent Another Reasonable Accomnrodation, Ms. Hegwine was 

Entitled to Leave 

Ultimately, the accoin~nodation analysis matters little. As stated 

above, even if the Court had properly detennined that Fibre need not extend 

http:$5,000.00


available acco~n~nodations to Ms. Hegwine, it was nevertheless obligated to 

provide leave for the actual period of her disability. When a woman's 

pregnancy results in a temporary disability, an elnployer is required to 

provide either a reasonable accoininodation or a leave of absence. WAC 162-

30-020(4)(a) provides in relevant part: "An e~nployer shall provide a woman 

a leave of absence for the period of time that she is sick or teinporarily 

disabled because of prejglancy or childbirth." Fuither, the e~nployer must 

provide leave to a pregnant woman even if the employer's general leave 

policy does not provide coinparable leave to e~nployees disabled by othei- 

causes. WAC 162-30-020(4)(b). 

The use of the term "woman" rather than "employee" in these 

provisions is notable. Clearly, the HRC intended to extend the regulations to 

both existing ernployees and applicants. This reading is consistent with the 

remainder of the regulation which declares it an unfair practice to refuse to 

hire or terminate a woinan because of prebmancy. WAC 162-30-020(3)(a). 

TV. REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY FEES 

This portion of the brief is submitted to co~nply with the requirements 

of RAP 18.l(b). 

RAP 18.1 provides for an award of attoiney fees on review where a 

statute authorizes such an award. Although RCW 49.60.030(2) does not 

expressly provide for attorney fees on review, it has been interpreted as 



authorizing such ail award. Alli.von v. Hoz/,s~ngAz//h.,118 Wn.2d 79, 98, 521 

P.2d 34 ( 199 1). '4s a result, attorney fees are properly awarded to a prevailing 

plaintiff in a discrimination appeal. Xieng v. Peoples iYut1l H ~ i n k ,120 Wn.2d 

512, 844 P.2d 389 (1993). Further, Ms. Ilegwine's claiin seeks recovery of 

unpaid wages. In the event that hls. Hegwine is successful in recovering 

wages, RCW 49.48.030 provides for an award of reasonable attorney fees 

against the employer. 

V. CONCLUSION 

Despite properly concluding -that Ms. Hep ine ' s  lifting restriction 

was a pregnancy-related condition, the trial court ell-oneously concluded that 

Fibre was entitled to deny her continued e~nploy~nent based solely upon the 

existence of the condition, in contravention of RCW 49.60, WAC 162-30, 

and Washing~on public policy. This c,onclusion was error as a matter of law. 

Further, the trial court erred both in resorting to a disability 

discriinination analysis and the actual application of disability discrimination 

law to the evidence presented at trial. Specifically, the trial court erred in 

concluding (1) that Ms. I-iegwine required accoin~nodatioris to perf01111 an 

essential job fiinction; (2) that Fibre fulfilled its obligation to explore 

reasonable acco~nmodations, (3) that reasonable accommodations were not 

available; and (4) that available reasonable accoininodations need not be 

extended by Fibre. 



Lastly, the trial court ell-ed in concluding that Fibl-e need not provide 

leave to Ms. Hegwine in the event her pregnancy truly prevented her fi-0117 

performing the duties of her position. 

Appellant respectfully requests that the trial court be reversed and that 

t he  case be remanded for an award of appropriate damages 

DATED: Septenlber 1. 2005. 

Respectfully submitted 
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